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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

February 2013 Grand Jury 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

ADELINE EKWEBELEM, .. 
aka "Adeline Maduabuchi," 

ROMIE PORTER TUCKER, JR., 
aka "Romy, " 
aka "Roman / 11 

• 

ak:a \\Ron / /1 

MARITZA HERNANDEZ, 
CINDY SANTANA 

aka "Cindya Santana," 
CHARLES OKOYE, and 
UCHE cHUKWUDI, 

Defendants. 

The Grand Jury charges: 

No. CR 12-1170(B)-MWF 

SECOND 
SUPERSEDING 
! !! ~ ! :g ! ~ ~ ~ 1 -
[18 U.S.C. § 1349: Conspiracy to 
Commit Health Care Fraud; 18 
U.S.C. § 1347: Health Care 
Fraud; 18 u.s.c. § 2(b): Aiding. 
and Abetting; 42 U.S.C. § 132Da-
7b(b) (2): Illegal Remunerations 
for Health Care Referrals] 
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COUNT ONE 

3 I. 

4 

[18 u.s.c. § 1349] 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. The Defendants 

5 1. Adelco Medical Distributors, Inc. ( "Adelco") was a 

6 durable medical equipment ("DME") supply company located at 

7 15223 South Crenshaw Boulevard, Suite #B, Gardena, California 

B 90249, within the Central District of California. 

9 2 . Defendant 1\DELINE EWKEBELEM, also known as ("aka") 

10 "Adeline Maduabuchi" ("defendant EKWEBELEM") 1 enrolled Adelco as 

11 a Medicare provider in or about JUne 2002. 
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3. Between in or about November 2008, and in or about May 

2011, defendant ROMIE PORTER TUCKER, JR., aka "Romy," aka 

"Roman," aka "Ron" ("defendant TUCKER"), worked as a marketer 

for Adelco. 

4, Between in or about March 2011, and in or about 

November 2011, defendant MARITZA HERNANDEZ ("defendant 

HERNANDEZ") worked as a·marketer for Adelco. 

s. Between in or about October 2009, and in or about 

August 2010, defendant CINDY SANTANA, aka "Cindya Santana" 

("defendant SANTANA") , worked as a marketer for Adel co. 

6. Between in or about November 2008 and in or about 

November 2011, defendant CHARLES OKOYE ("defendant OKOYE"), a 

licensed physician and enrolled Medicare provider, referred more 

than 200 Medicare beneficiaries to Adelco for DME, primarily 

power wheelchairs ("PWCs"), from his medical clinic, located at 

4405 south Main Street in Los Angeles, California. Defendant 

OKOYE also billed Medicare for services he allegedly provided to 

2 
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l approximately 150 of those beneficiaries. 

2 7. Between in or about June 2010 and in or about October 

3 2011, defendant UCHE CHUKWUDI ("defendant CHUKWUDI"), a licensed 

4 physician and enrolled Medicare provider, referred more than 200 

5 Medicare beneficiaries to Adelco for DME, primarily PWCs, from 

6 his medical clinic, located at 15425 Crenshaw Boulevard in 

7 Gardena, California. Defendant CHUKWUDI also billed Medicare 
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for services he allegedly provided to those beneficiaries. 

8. Between in or about January 2007, and in or about 

December 2011, Adelco submitted approximately $7,350,695 in 

claims to Medicare, primarily for PWCs, for which Medicare paid 

Adelco approximately $3,452,299, representing more than 

approximately 90%- of Adelco's revenue during the period. 

9. Of the claims Adelco submitted to Medicare, 

approximately $1,710,143 were for patients referred by defendant 

OKOYE, for which Medicare paid Adelco approximately $824,566. 

10. Of the claims Adelco submitted to Medicare, 

approximately $1,185,464 were for patients referred by defendant 

CHUKWUDI, for which Medicare paid Adelco approximately $539,254. 

B. The Medicare Program 

21 11. Medicare was a federal health care benefit program, 

22 affecting commerce, that provided benefits to individuals who 

23 were over the age of 65 or disabled. Medicare was administered 

24 by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"·) , a 

25 federal agency under the United States Department of Health and 

26 Human Services ("HHS"). 

27 12. CMS contracted with private insurance companies to 

28 certify DME providers for participation in the Medicare program 

3 
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l and monitor their compliance with Medicare standards, to process 

2 and pay claims, and to perform program safeguard functions, such 

3 as identifying and reviewing suspect claims. 

4 13. Nori di an Administrative Services ( "Noridian") 

5 processed and paid Medicare DME claims in Southern California. 

6 14. Individuals who qualified for Medicare benefits were 

7 referred to as Medicare "beneficiaries." Each Medicare 

8 beneficiary was given a Health Identification Card containing a 

9 unique identification number ( "H!CN") . 

10 15. DME companies, physicians, and other health care 

11 providers that provided medical services that were reimbursed by 

12 Medicare were referred to as Medicare "providers~" 

13 16. To obtain reimbursement from Medicare, DME companies 

14 and physicians first had to apply for and obtain a provider 

15 number. By signing the provider application, DME companies and 

16 physicians agreed to abide by all Medicare rules and 

17 regulations, including the Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. 

18 § 1320a-7b(b)), which, among other things, prohibits the payment 

19 of kickbacks or bribes for the referral of Medicare 

20 beneficiaries for any item or service for which payment may be 

21 made by Medicare. 

22 17. If Medicare approved a provider's application, 

23 Medicare assigned the provider a Medicare provider number, which 

24 enabled the provider to submit claims to Medicare for· services 

25 rendered to Medicare beneficiaries. 

26 18. Most DME providers, including Adelco, submitted their 

27 claims electronically pursuant to an agreement with Medicare 

28 that they would submit claims that were accurate, complete, .and 

4 
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1 truthful. Under these agreements, .DME providers are required to 

2 retain all original source documentation supporting the claims 

3 for 6 years and 3 months after the claim ·is paid. 

4 19. Medicare required a claim for Medicare reimbursement 

5 of DME to set forth, among other things, the beneficiary's name 

6 and HICN, the type of DME provided to.the beneficiary, the date 

7 the DME was provided, and the name and unique physician 

8 identification number of the physician who prescribed or ordered 

9 the DME. 

10 20. DME providers were only entitled to Medicare 

11 reimbursement for DME that was medically necessary to the 

12 treatm~nt of a beneficiary's illness or injury, was prescribed 

13 by a 'beneficiary's physician, and was provided in accordance 

14 with Medicar.e regulations and guidelines that governed whether a 

15 particular item or service would be reimbursed by Medicare. 

16 Medicare required claims to be truthful, complete, and not 

17 misleading. 

18 21. Medicare had a co-payment requirement for DME. 

19 Medicare reimbursed providers 80% of the allowed amount of a DME 

20 claim and the beneficiary was ordinarily obligated to pay the 

21 remaining 20~. 

22 II. THE OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY 

23 22. Beginning in or about January 2007, and continuing to 

24 in or about December 2011, in Los Angeles County, within the 

25 Central District of California and elsewhere, defendant 

26 EKWEBELEM, joined by defendant TUCKER from in or about November 

27 2008 to in or about May 2011, defendant HERNANDEZ from in or 

28 about March 2011 to in or about November 2011, defendant SANTA.NA 

5 
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1 from in or about October 2009 to in or about August 2010, 

2 defendant OKOYE from in or about November 2008 to in or about 

3 November 2011, and defendant CHURWUDI from in or about June 2010 

4 to in or about October 2011, together with others known and 

5 unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly combined, conspired, and 

6 agreed to commit health care fraud, in violation of Title 18, 

7 United States Code, Section 1347. 

8 III. THE MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

9 23. The object of the conspiracy was carried out, and to 

10 be carried out, in substance, as follows: 

ll a. Defendant EKWEBELEM would pay "marketers," 

12 including defendant TUCKER, defendant HERNANDEZ, and defendant 

13 SANTANA, to solicit Medicare beneficiaries for Adelco. 

14 b. Defendant TUCKER, defendant HERNANDEZ, and 

15 defendant SANTANA would solicit beneficiaries, offering them 

16 medically-unnecessary PWCs, hospital beds, orthotics, and other 

17 DME for free. 

18 c. At defendant EKWEBELEM's instruction, defendant 

19 TUCKER, defendant HERNANDEZ, and defendant SANTANA would take 

20 the beneficiaries to see doctors, including defendant OKOYE and 

21 defendant CHUKWUDI, chosen by defendant EKWEBELEM and then take 

22 the beneficiaries to Adelco, where the beneficiaries provided 

23 their HICNs and other patient information to Adelco. 

24 d. For these beneficiaries, defendant OKOYE and 

25 defendant CHUKWUDI would create fraudulent patient files that 

26 included PWC prescriptions and false statements in face-to-face 

27 examination forms ("FTF forms") purporting to support the 

28 medical need for the DME, even though defendant OKOYE and 

6 
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1 defendant CHUKWUDI knew the beneficiaries did not medically need 

2 PWCs and even though defendant OKOYE never even examined some of 

3 the beneficiaries. Defendant OKOYE would direct the patients to 

4 Adelco to fill the prescriptions, knowing that Adelco would bill 

5 Medicare for the provision of that DME. 

6 .e. Defendant OKOYE and defendant CHUKWUDI would also 

7 bill and receive payments from Medicare for office visits and 

8 diagnostic tests allegedly provided to beneficiaries brought to 

9 him by Adelco' s marketers.· 

10 f, Defendant EKWEBELEM would purchase or otherwise 

11 obtain fraudulent prescriptions for DME and other medical 

12 documentation for the beneficiaries, including false FTF forms 

13 from defendant OKOYE, defendant CHUKWUDI, and other doctors. 

14 g. Sometimes defendant OKOYE, defendant CHUKWODI, 

15 and other doctors would provide Adelco with pre-signed FTF forms 

16 that were blank except for the basic patient information and 

17 doctor's signature, in which case either defendant EKWEBELEM or 

18 Adelco employees acting at defendant EKWEBELEM's instruction 

19 would complete the form with additional information aimed at 

20 justifying the medical necessity of the DME. 

21 h. As defendant TUCKER, defendant HERNANDEZ, and 

22 defendant SANTANA well knew, defendant EKWEBELEM would use the 

23 Medicare beneficiary names, HICNs, and other patient information 

24 for beneficiaries solicited by defendant TUCKER, defendant 

25 HERNANDEZ, defendant SANTANA, and other marketers to submit 

26 false and fraudulent c~aims under Adelco's provider number to 

27 Medicare for PWCs, hospital beds, orthotics, and other DME that 

28 

7 



ase 2:12-cr-01170-MWF Document 107 Filed 12/19/13 Page 8of14 Page JD #:31 

1 were not medically necessary and in some cases not provided to 

2 Medic.are ben.eficiaries as represented in the claims. 

3 i. Defendant EKWEBELEM would direct that Medicare 

4 payments on the claims Adelco submitted be deposited into 

5 Adelco's business bank account at Bank of America, account 

6 number xxxxx-x5603 (the "Adelco Bank Account"), which she 

7 controlled. 

8 j. From the.approximately $3,452,299 Medicare paid 

9 to Adelco between in or about January 2007, and in or about 

10 December 2011, defendant EKWEBELEM would write checks from the 

11 Adelco Bank Account and pay cash to marketers and doctors, 

12 including defendant TUCKER, defendant HERNANDEZ, defendant 

13 SANTANA, defendant OKOYE, and defendant CHUKWUDI, in exchange 

14 for their referring Medicare beneficiaries to Adelco. Defendant 

15 EKWEBELEM would adjust the payments to defendant TUCKER, 

16 defendant HERNANDEZ, defendant SANTANA, and other marketers 

17 according to the DME ordered for the beneficiaries and the 

18 doctors to whom the beneficiaries were taken. Defendant 

19 EKWEBELEM would 0nly pay the marketers if Medicare paid Adelco 

20 for the DME for the recruited beneficiaries. Defendant 

21 EKWEBELEM would often require the marketers to refund any 

22 advance payment defendant EKWEBELEM had made to them if Medicare 

23 subsequently denied the claim. 

24 k. Defendant EKWEBELEM would also write 

25 approximately $629,009 in checks to herself and withdraw 

26 approximately $853,091 in cash from the Adelco Bank Account. 

27 

28 
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COUNTS· TWO THROUGH EIGHTEEN 

[18 u.s.c. §§ 1347, 2(b)) 

I. INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS 

24. The Grand Jury incorporates by reference and re

alleges paragraphs l through 19 and 21 of this Second 

Superseding Indictment as if fully set forth herein. 

II. THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD' 

25. Beginning in or about January 2007, and continuing 

until in or about December 2011, in Los Angeles County, within 

the Central District of California, and elsewhere, defendant 

EKWEBELEM, joined'by defendant TUCKER from in or about November 

2008 to in or about May 2011, defendant HERNANDEZ from in or 

about March 2011 ·to in or ab.out November 2011, defendant SANTANA 

from in or about October 2009 to in or about August 2010, 

defendant OKOYE from in or about November 2008 to in or about 

November 2011, and defendant CHUKWUDI from in or about June 2010 

to in or about October 2oi1, together with others known and 

unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly, willfully, and with intent 

to defraud, executed a scheme and artifice: (a) to defraud a 

health care benefit program, namely, Medicare, as to material 

matters in connection with the delivery of and payment for 

health care benefits, items, and services; and (b) to obtain 

money from Medicare by means of material false and fraudulent 

pretenses and representations and ·the concea.lment of material 

facts in connection with the delivery of and payment for health 

care benefits, items, and services. 

9 
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1 III. THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME 

2 26. The fraudulent scheme operated, in substance, as 

3 described in paragraph 21 of this Second Superseding Indictment, 

4 which is hereby incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

5 herein. 

6 IV. EXECUTION OF THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME 

7 27. On or about the dates set forth below, within the 

8 Central District of California, and elsewhere, the following 

9 defendants, together with others known and unknown to the Grand 

10 Ju:i::y, for the purpose of executing the scheme to defraud 

11 described above, knowingly and willfully submitted and caused ta 

12 be submitted to Medicare the following false and fraudulent 

13 claims: 

14 Count Defendant(s) Approx, 
Date Claim 

15 - Submitted 
TWO EKWEBELEM 4/15/2008 

16 

17 

18 Tl-IRE!l EKWEBELEM 4/25/2008 

19 

20 FOUR EKWEBELEM, B/9/2010 
SANTANA, 
OKOYE 21 

22 
ll'J:VE EKWEBELllM, 9/7/20l0 

23 TUCKER 

24 

25 SIX EKWEBELEM, 9/29/2010 
TUCKER, 

26 CHUKWUDI 

27 

28 

Beneficiary 
and Service 

B,P, -
Motorized 
wl1eelchair 
and 
accessories 
M.M. -
Motorized 
wheelchair 
and 
accessories 
F.D. -
Mot;orized 
wheelchair 
and 
accessories 
B.M. -
Motorized 
wheelchair 
and 
accessories 
M.A. -
Motorized 
wheelchair 
and 
accesaoriea 

10 

Amount 
Claimed 

Claim No. 

$5, 900. 00 "(1"8106809988000 

$5,900.00 08116806365000 

$6,570.09 10221874264000 

$7, 104 .13 102soa93264ooci 

$7, 061. o7·-· io212ss4220000 
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l 

2 Count Defendant(a) Approx. Beneficiary Amount Claim .No. 
Date Claim and service Claimed 

3 Submitted 
SEVEN EKWEBELEM, ll./l/2010 W.G. - $7,967.94 10305879B19000 

4 TUCKER, Motorized 
CHUKWUDI wheelchair 

5 and 
accesaories, 

6 
orthotics 

EIGHT EKWEBELEM, 2/9/:lOll E. U. - $2,667.58 11040843333000 

7 
OKOYE Motorized 

wheelchair 
[rental) and 

8 accessories 
NINE 4/22/2011 

-~---- --

EKWEBELEM, E, U. - $1, 400. 00 1ll12B06764000 
9 OKOYE Motorized 

wheelchair 
10 {rental) and 

accesso:ries 
11 TEN EKWEBELEM, 7 /11/2011 P.O. - $4,651.08 11192886051000 

HERNANDEZ, Motorized 
12 CHOKWUDI wheelchair 

(rental) and 

13 accessories 
ELEVEN EKWEBELEM, 10/19/2009 J.C. - $9,650.00 09292861755000 

14 SANTANA, Motorized 
OKOYE wheelchair 

15 and 
accessories 

TWELVE 
--~~ 

10/19/2009 $9,650,00 
16 EKWEBELllM, M.C. - 09292861758000 

SANTANA, Motorized 

17 
OKOYE wheelchair 

and 
accessories 

18 THIRTEEN JlKWEBELEM, 4/28/2010 A.D, - $5,090.00 1011$837597000 

SANTANA, Motorized 
19 OKOYE wll.eeJ.chair 

and. 
20 accessorieS ·-

FOURTEEN llKWEBllLllM, 8/19/2010 R.C. - $6,570.09 10230845726000 

21 OKOYE Motorized 
wheelchair· 

22 and 
accessories 

23 FIFTEEN EKWESELEM, 10/21/2010 R.C. - $5,390.00 10294801316000 

OKOY&: Motorized 

24 wheelchair 
and 

25 accessDries 
SIXTEEN JlKWEBJlLllM, 11/8/2010 A.M. - $7,167.SB 10312877926000 

26 CHUKWUDI Motorized 
wheel ell.air 

27 
and 
accessories, 
ortl1otic 

28 

11 
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1 Count Defendant(") l\pprox • Beneficiary Ainount C1aim No. 
Date Claim and service- Claimed 

2 SUbmitted 
SEVENTEEN 11/23/2010 $7,167.54 10327859400000 

. 
EKWEBELEM, J.M. -

3 Cl!UKWUDI Motorized 
wheelchair 

4 and 
accessories, 

5 
orthotic . 

EIG!!TllEN EKWEBELEM, 7/1/2011 G.!i', - $2,051.08 11182849574000 

6 
!!ERNANDEZ, Motorized 
CHUKWUDI wheelchair 

(rental) and 
7 accessories . -
a 
9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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1 COUNTS NINETEEN THROUGH TWENTY-ONE 

2 [42 u.s.c. § 1320a-7b(b) (2) J 

3 [Defendant EKWEBELEM] 

4 28. The Grand Jury hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 

5 1-19 and 21 of this second Superseding Indictment as if fully 

6 set forth herein. 

7 29. On or about the following dates, in Los Angeles 

a County, within the Central District of California, and 

9 elsewhere, defendant EKWEBELEM, together with others known and 

10 unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly and willfully offered and 

. 11 paid remuneration, that is, either cash or checks payable in or 

12 about the amounts·set forth below, to defendant Tucker, 

13 defendant Hernandez, and defendant Santana, to induce defendant 

14 Tucker, defendant Hernandez, and defendant Santana to refer 

15 individuals to Adelco for DME for which payment could be made in 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

13 
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1 whole and in part under a Federal health care program, namely 

2 Medicare. 

3 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

NINETEEN 7/13/2010 Check number 3367, drawn on the 
Adelco Bank Account, in the amount of 
$1,200.00, payable to defendant 

U-~~~~~-l-~..,.--...,.~~-~--+··=S=a=n~t=a=n=ac_~~----c~~~~--,~--::-~~~--1! 
TWENTY 10/28/2010 Cash payment of $400 to defendant 

TWENTY-ONE 7/8/2011 

ANDRE BIROTTE JR. 
United States Attorney 

~ { • I) /_;~A u- .... 

ROBERT E. DUGDALE 

Tucker 
Check number 3935, drawn on the 
Adelco Bank Account, in the amount of 

.$550.00, payable to defendant 
Hernandez 

A TRUE BILL 

/5/ 
Foreperson 

Assistant United States Attorney 
Chief,. Criminal Division 

22 RICHARD E. ROBINSON 
· Assistant.United States Attorney 

23 Chief, Major Frauds Section 

24 

25 

. 26 

27 

28 

STEPHEN A. CAZARES 
Assistant united States Attorney 
Deputy Chief, Major Frauds Section 

KRISTEN A. WILLIAMS 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Major Frauds Section 

14 
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l ANDRE BIF.OTTE .rn. 
United States Attorney 

2 ROBERT E. DUGDALE 
Assistant United States Attorney 

3 Chief, Criminal Division 
KRISTEN A. WILLIAMS (Cal. ear No. 263594) 

4 CATHY J. OSTILLER (Cal. Bar No. 174582) 
Assistant United States Attorneys 

5 Major Frauds Section 
1100 United States Courthouse 

6 312 North Spring Street 
J,os Angeles, California 90012 

7 Telephone: (213) 894-0526/6159 
Facsimile: (213) 894-6269 

8 E-mail: Kristen. Wi.lliams@usdoj.gov 
Cathy.Ostiller@usdoj.gov 

9 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

10 UNITED STATES OF' A!Vff:RICA 

11 UNTTED STATf::S DISTRICT COURT 

12 F'OR 'J'HE CENTRl\L DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

13 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

14 Plaintiff, 

15 v. 

16 CHARLES OKOYE, 

11 Defendant. 

18 

No. CR 12-1170 (B)-M\'lF-5 
A l'I !i!<'.N Pt? D 

PLEA AGREEMENT F_Cl_~_D~~ 
CHARLES OKOYE 

19 1. This constitutes the plea agreement between Charles Okoye 

20 ("defendant") and the United States Attorney's Office for the Central 

21 District of California (the "USAO") in the above-captioned case. 

22 This agreement is limited to the USAO and cannot bind any other 

23 federa.l, state, local, or foreign prosecuting, enforcement, 

24 administrative, or regulatory authorities. 

25 DEr'ENDl\NT' S OBL_I_Gl\'l'ION:':! 

26 2. Defendant agrees to: 

27 a. At the earl.lest opportunity .requested by the USAO and 

28 provided by the Court, appear and ple~d guilty to count 1 of the 
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1 second superseding· indictment in 1Jnited_2_j:at:es v. Charles Okoye.! et 

2 al., CR No. 12-1170 (B)-MWF, whi.ch charges defendant with conspiracy 

3 to commit health care fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349. 

4 b. Not contest facts agreed to in this agreement. 

5 c. Abide by all agreements regarding sentencing contained 

6 in this agreement. 

7 d. Appear for all court appearances, surrender as ordered 

8 for service of sentence, oliey all conditions of any bond, and obey 

9 any other ongoing court order in this mattex. 

10 e. Not c:ommi.t any crime; however, offenses that would be 

11 excluded for sentencing purposes under United States Sentencing 

12 Guideli.nBs ("U.S.S.G." or "Sentencing Guidelines") § 4Al.2(c) are not 

13 within the scope of this agreement. 

14 f. Be truthful at all times with Pretrial Services, the 

15 United States Probation Office, and the Court. 

16 g. Pay the applicable special assessment at or before the 

17 time of sentencing unless defendant lacks the ability to pay and 

18 prior to sentencing submits a completed financial. statement on a form 

19 to be provided by the USAO. 

20 h. Not seek the discharg·e of any rest:Lt:utton oblig&tion, 

21 in wl1ole or in part, 1n any present or future~ bankruptcy proceeding~ 

22 3. Defendant understands and acknowledges that as a result of 

23 pleading guilty pursuant to this agreement, defendant wil.l be 

24 excluded from Modic:are, Medicaid, and al.l Federal health care 

25 p,r<)grarns ~ Defenclant a-grees to cornfJlete anc.i exl~Cut.e all nece~sary 

26 documents provided by the United St.ates Department of Health and 

27 Human Services, or any other department or agency of the federal 

28 government, to effectuate this exclusion within 60 days of receiving 

2 
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1 tbe documents. This exclusion will !)or. affect. defendant.' s rigb!: to 

2 · apply for and receive benefits as. a beneficiary undet any l?eder.al 

3 he.altb care. program, including Medicare and Medicaid. 

4 

5 

6 

11 

Defendant furthG>r agrees: 

To ai:ipulate to the revocation of ctefen\)ant's medii;:al 

llcense and shall lose <I'll rights and privileges as a licen11ed 

physician in California; 

{..\ b. To not apply for licemrnre or petition for 

reinstatement of def·endant' s revoked medical license for at least 

~ years f.rom the effective date of the revoc-ati¢n.; <Uld 

c. '!'hat upon the effective date of the license 

12 revocation, the d<;>fendant sh(l.11 be p·robibited from eng11g:ing, eit.her 

13 directly or indirectly, in any activity for whi.ch a medical license 

14 is required. 

15 !HE USAO' 8 OllLIGl\TlONS 

5. The USJ\O agrees to: 

17 Not contest facts agreed to in this agreemant. 

18 Abide Joy all agreements regarding sentencing ci;>ntained 

19 in this agreement. 

20 At the til!\I'! o:f sen\:ep0ing, move to dJ.sm-iS.s the 

21 remaining counts of the secon.d superseding indictment and underlying 

22 first superseding indictment aa against defe.ndaht. DefendMlt agr.ees, 

2,; however, that at the time cf sentencing the Court may ccn@ider any 

l4 dismissed chq.rges in determird,n<J the applicable Sentencing Guid.,,lines 

25 range, the propriety and ext<e.nt of any departut.,, fmm thato range, and 

26 the sentence to be iroposed, 

27 d. At the tl.me of· sentencing, provided that s;lefendllnt 

28 demonstrates an acceptance of responsibility for,the offenses up to 

3 

! 
I• 

i 

i .. 
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1 and including the time of sentencing, rrn::ommend a two-level reduction 

2 in the applicable Sentencing Guidelines offense level, pursuant to 

3 u.s.s.G. § 3E1.1, and recommend and, if necessary, move for an 

4 additional one-level reduction if available under that section. 

5 e. l'xcept for criminal tax violations (including 

6 conspiracy to commit such violations chargeable under 18 U.S.C. 

7 § 371), not further criminally prosecute defendant for violations of 

8 18 U.S.C. § 1347 arising out of defendaot's conduct described in the 

9 agreed-to factual basis set forth :in paragraph 12 wi.th respect his 

10 prescription of medically unnecessary durable medical equipment in 

11 ''"change for illegal kickbacks from 1'steem Medical Supply. Defendant 

12 understands that the USAO is free to criminally prosecute defendant 

13 for any other unlawful past conduct: or any unlawful conduct that 

14 occurs after the date of this agreement. Defendant agrees that at 

15 the time of sentencing the Court may consider the uncharged conduct 

16 In determining the applicable Sentencing Guidelines rang<i, the 

17 propriety and extent of any departure from that range, and the 

18 sentence to be imposed af·ter consideration of t.he Sentencing 

19 Guidelines and all other relevant factors under 18 U.S. C. § 3553 (a) . 

20 .tl_)\:IURE OF THE, OFFENSES 

21 G. Defendant understands that for defendant to be gu.ilty of 

22 the crime charged in count one, that is, conspiracy to commit health 

23 care fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

24 1349, the following must be true: (1) beginning in or about November 

2'5 2008 and continuing until in or about November 2011, there was an 

26 agreement between two or more persons to commit healthcare fraud, in 

27 violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347; and (2) 

28 defendant became a member of this conspiracy knowing of its object 

4 
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1 and i.ntending to help accomplish it. The elements of a violation of 

2 Title 18, United States Code, Section l.347, an": (ll defendant 

3 knowingly and willfully devised or participated in a scheme to 

4 defraud a health care benefit program; (2) the statements made or 

5 facts omitted as part of the scheme were material; (3) defendant 

6 acted with intent to defraud; and (4) the scheme involved the 

7 delivery of or payment for health care benefits, items, o:r services. 

8 PENALTIES AND RESTITUTION 
'"" __ ,. -----

9 7. Defendant understands that the statutory maximum sentence 

10 that the Court can impose for a violatl.on of Title 18, Un.ited States 

11 Code, Section 1349, is: 10 years imprisonment.; a three-year period of 

12 supervised release; a fine of $250,000 or twice the gross gain or 

13 gross loss resulting from the offense, whichever is greatest; and a 

14 mandatory special assessment of $100. 

15 8. Defendant understands that defendant will be required to 

16 pay full :restitution to the vJ.ctim(s) of the offense to which 

17 defendant is plead1ng guilty. Defendant agrees that, in return for 

18 the USAO' s compliance with its obligations under this a<Jreement, the 

19 Court may order restitution to persons other than the victim(sl of 

20 the offenses to which defendant is pleading guilty and in amount1> 

21 greater than thos_e alleged i.n the count to which defendant is 

22 pleading guilty. In particular, defendant agrees that the Co\lXt may 

23 order ·restitution to any victim of any of the following for any 

losses suffered by that victi1n as a result: {a) any relevant cor1du-ct 1 

25 as defined in U.s.S.G. § l.Bl.3, in connection with the offenses to 

26 which defendant is pleading guilty; ancl (b) any counts dismissed and 

27 charges not prosecuted pursuant to this agreement as well as all 

28 relevant conduct, as defined in u.s.s.G. § lBl.3, .in connection with 

5 
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1 those counts. The parties currently believe that the applicable 

2 amount of restitution is approximately $931,118.96, but recognize and 

3 agree that this amount could change based on facts thilt come to the 

4 attention of the parties prior to sentencing. 

5 9. Defendant understands that supervised release is a period 

6 of time following imprisonment during which def(rndant wiU be subject 

7 to various restrictions and requirements. Defendant: understands that 

8 if defendant violates one or more of the conditions of any supervised 

9 release imposed, defendant may be returned to prison for all or part 

10 of the term of supervised release authorized by statute for the 

I 1 offense that resulted in the term of super:vi.sed release, which could 

12 result in defendant serving a total term of imprisonment greater than 

13 the statutory maximum stated above. 

14 10. Defendant understands that, by pleading guilty, defendant 

15 may be giving up valuable government benefits and valuable civ.ic 

16 rights, such as the right to vote, the right to posse.ss a firearm, 

17 the right to hol1i office, .and the right to serve on a jury. 

18 Defendant understands that once the court accepts defendant's guilty 

19 plea, it will be a federal felony for defendant to possess a firearm 

20 or ammunition. Defendant understands that the conviction in this 

21 case may also subject. defendant to various other collateral 

22 consequences, including but not l:Lmi ted to mandatory exclusion from 

23 providing services for any federal health care benefit program for at 

24 least fi.ve years, suspension or revocation of a professional license, 

25 ~ind revocation of profJation, parole, or .;;;up0rvised release in another 

26 case. Defend;;i.nt understands that unanticipated collateral 

27 consequences will not serve as grounds to withdraw defendant's guilty 

28 plea. 

6 
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l 11; Defendant understands thaL, if defendant is not a Ur:ited 

2 States citizen, the felony conviction in this case may subject 

3 defendant to: removal, also known as deportation, which may, under 

4 some circumstances, be mandatory; denial of citizenship; and denial 

5 of admission to thr~ United States in the future. The court cannot, 

6 and defendant's attorney also may not be able to, advise defendant 

7 fully regarding the immigration consequences of the fEJlony conviction 

8 in this case. Defendant understands that unexpected immigration 

9 consequences will not serve as grounds to withdraw defendant's guilty 

10 plea. 

11 F'ACTU/\l, BAS IS 
~--·--··-·~ -

12 12. Defendant admits that defendant is, in fact, guilty of the 

13 offense to which defendant is agreeing to plead guilty. Defendant 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

and the USAO agree to the statement of facts provided below and agree 

that: this statement of facts is sufficient to support a plea of 

guilty to the charge de<;cribed in this agreement. and to establish th;, 

Sentencing Guidelines, factors set for.th in paragraph 14 below but is 

not meant to be a complete recitation of all facts relevant to the 

tmderlying criminal conduct or all facts known to either party that 

relate to that conduct. 

·sack.ground 

Between in or about November 2008 and in or about November 2011, 

defendant, a licensed physician, prescribed DME (primarily power 

wheelchai.rs ("PWCs")) for patients he referred to Adelco Medical 

25 Distributors, Inc. ("Adelco"), a durable medical equipment ("DME") 

26 supplier. ourl.ng that time period, Adelco was owned by co-

27 conF;pirator Adeline Ekwebelem, and was enrolled as a provider with 

28 Medicare, a federal health care benefit program affecting commerce 
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1 that provides reimbursement for medically necessary services to 

2 persons aged sixty-five years and older and to certain disabled 

3· persons. Adelco purported to provide DME to Medicare beneficiaries. 

4 .:~ .. l!.e Conspiracy :t,(l D_!'fraud M:"..::Jic;>.J::§. 

5 Du.ring the period described above, in Los Angeles County, with.in 

6 the Central D.istrict of California, defendant conspired and agreed 

7 with Ekwebelem and others to defraud Medicare by soliciting and 

8 receiving illegal kickbacks in exchange for prescribing medically 

9 unnecessary l'l'lCs and other DHE for Medicare beneficiaries he referred 

10 to Adelco. Defendant joined the conspiracy knowing of and intending 

11 to help accomplish those goals. 

12 Defendant solicited and received kickbacks from gkwebelem in 

13 exchange for referring Medicare beneficiaries to Adelco for DMr: that 

14 he knew would be billed to Medicare by Adelco. Defendant did so, 

15 knowing that Ekwebelem had arranged to have many of the patients he 

16 referred to Adel co brought to deftrndant' s cLi.nic for: that purpos8. 

17 Defendant knew that it was illegal. to solicit or receive kickbacks i.n 

18 exchange for the referral of patients for PWCs or other DME paid tor 

19 by Medicare. 

20 Defendant also knew that many of the beneficiaries he referred 

21 to Adelco did not medically need Pt~Cs and were able to walk 

22 unassisted. Defendant knew that Adelco fraudulent:ly bilJ.ed Medicare 

23 for the PWCs, falsely claiming that Pl'/Cs were medically necessary . 

. 24 During his involvement with the conspiracy, defendant referred 

25 approximately 204 beneficiaries to Adel co for PWCs. Defendant billed 

26 Medicare approximately $52,802 for claims for services he allegedly 

27 provided to the beneflciaries he referred to Adelco for DME, and 

28 Medicare paid defendant approximately S29, 927 on those claims. 

8 
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1 Adelco billed Medicare approximately $1,710,143 for DME claims 

2 related to beneficiaries defendant referred, and Medicare paid Adelco 

3 approximately $824,566 on those claims. 

5 During approximately the same time period during which defendant 

6 was engaged in a conspiracy to commit health care fraud with 

7 Ekwebelem ,,nd Adelco, he was also prescribing medically unnecessary 

8 DME, primarily PWCs, in exchange for kickbacks from the owner of 

9 another DME company, Esteem Medical Supply. Defendant referred 

10 approximately 21 beneficiaries to Este<c;m for Dl1E. Esteem billed 

11 Medicare approximately $128, 221 for DMB clai.ms related to those 

12 bencoficiaries, and Medicare paid Esteem approximately $76,625 on 

13 those claims. 

14 SENTENCING PACTORS 
---~ 

15 13. Defendant understands that i.n determining defendant's 

16 sentence thco Court is requiccod to calculilte the applicable Sentencing 

17 Guidelines range and to consider that range, possible departures 

18 under th~ Sentencing Guidelines, and the other sentencing factors set 

19 forth in 18 D.S.C. § 3553(a). Defendant understands that the 

20 sentencing Guidelines are advisory only, that defendant cannot have 

21 any expectation of receiving a sentence withi.n the calculated 

22 sentencing Guidelines range, and that after considering tbe 

23 Sentencing Guidcolines and the other§ 3553(a) factors, the Court will 

24 bco tree to exercisco its discretion to imposco any scontence it finds 

25 appropi:iate up to th<'! maximum set by statutco for the crimco of 

26 conviction. 

27 11. Dcofendant and the USAO agree to the J'ollowing applicable 

28 Seri tencing Guidelines factors: 

9 
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1 Base Offense Level: 6 [U.S.S.G, § 2Bl.l(a) (l)J 

2 Loss Between $400,000 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

And $1 million: +14 [U.S.S.G. § 2Bl.l(b) (])(I) I 

Abuse of a Position of Trust: +2 [U.S.S.G. § 3Bl.3) 

Defendant and the llSAO reserv.e the right to argue that additi .. onal 

specific offense f~haracteristcic$, adjustments, and departures und?r 

B the Sentencing Guidelines are appropriate. In particular~ the 

9 government reserves the right to 11rgue - and defendant nrnerves ·the 

10 right to oppose - tha.t the loss in t..h.is case is appr-0xirnately 

11 $1,891,166 and that an enhancement of +16 for loss under O.S.S.G. 

12 § 2Bl .1 (b) (1) (J) should apply. 

13 15. Defendant understands that there is no agreement as to 

14 defendant's criminal history or criminal history category. 

15 16. Defendant and the USAO reserve the right to a.r.gue for a 

16 sentence outside the sentencing range established by thEo Sentencing 

17 Guidelines based on the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) (1), 

18 (a) (2), (a) (3), (a) (6), and (a) (7). 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

WAIVER OF CONSTITOTIONAL RIGHTS 
-··--·-····-···········- ------~-----

17. ·Defendant understands that. by pleading guilty, defendant 

gives up the following rights: 

a. The right to persist in a plea of not guilty. 

b. The right to a speedy and public trial. by jury. 

c. The right to be represented by counsel and if 

25 necessary have the court appoint counsel -- at trial. Defendant 

26 

27 

28 

understands, however, that, defendant retains the t:ight to be 

represented l)y counsel ,.. ;1nd if necessary have the cou_rt. appoint 

counsel - at every other stage of the proceeding. 

10 



Case 2:12-cr-01170-MWF Document 253 Filed 08/22/14 Page 11of19 Page ID #:1315 

1 

2 

3 

4 

d. The right to be presumed innocent and t.o have the 

burden of proof placed on the government to prove defendant guilty 

beyond a reasonable doubt.. 

e. Tl1e right to con.front and· ·cross-exarnine witnesses 

5 against defendant. 

6 f. The right to testify and to present evidence in 

7 opposition to the charges, inc1uding the right to compel the 

B attendance of witnesses to testify. 

9 g. 'l'he right not to be compelled to testify, and, if 

10 defendant chose not to testify or present evidence, to have that 

1.1 choice not be used against defendant. 

12 h. Any and all rights to pursue any ;;ffirmative defenses, 

13 Fourth Amendment. or. Fifth Amendment claims, and other pretrial 

14 motions that have been filed or could be filed. 

15 WAIVER OF ~J:'f>§A!c .. OF CONVICTION 

16 18'. Defendant understands t11at, with tl1e except-ion (}_f an app(~aJ 

17 based on a claim that defendant's guilty plea was involuntary, by 

18 pleading guilty defendant is waiving and giving up any right to 

1-9 ctppe.al de.fenclant' s- convict.ion on th-e offense to which_ defendant is 

2.0 pleading guilty. 

21 LIMITE_Q •. ~Q.TUAL V'J_!'.[VER__QB' Al'PE~L OF SENTENCE 

22 19. Defendant agrees that, provided the Court imposes a total 

23 term of imprisonment on al.1 count.s of conviction wi tbin or below tbe 

24 range cor.respondi.ng to ah offense level of 21 and the criminal 

25 history category calculated by the Court, defe!)dant gives 1.lP the 

26 rig\1t ·to appeal all of the following: {a) the procedures and 

27 calculations used to determine and impose any portion of \:he 

28 sentence; (b) the term of imprisonment imposed by t:he Court; {c) Lhe 

11 
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l fine imposed by the court, provided it is within the statutory 

2 max.imum; (d) the amount and terms of any restitution order, provided 

3 it requires payment of no more t.han $931, 118. 96; (el the term of 

4 probation or supervised release imposed by the Court, provided it is 

5 with.in the statutory maximum; and (f) any of the following conditions 

6 of probation or supervised release imposed by the Court: the 

7 conditions set forth in General Orders 318, 01-05, and/or 05-02 of 

8 this Court; the drug testing conditions mandated by 18 U.S.C. 

9 §§ 3563(a) (5) and 3583(d); and the alcohol and drug use conditions 

10 authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 3S63(b) (7). 

11 20. The USAO agrees that, provided (a) all portions of the 

12 sentence are at or below the statutory maximum specified above and 

13 (b) the Court imposes a term of imprisonment within or above the 

14 range corresponding to an offense level of 21 and the criminal 

15 history category calculated by the Couct, the USAO gives up its right 

16 t.o appeal any port.ion of the sentence, with the exception Utat the 

17 USAO .reserves the right to appeal the amount of restitution ordered 

18 if that amount is less thaI\ $931, 118. 96. 

19 RESULT OF WITHDRAWAL OF GUILTY PLEA 

20 21. Defendant agrees that .if, after entering a guilty plea 

21 pu.rsuant to t.his agr·eement, defendant seeks to withdrat1 and succeeds 

22 i.n withdrawing defendant's guilty plea on any basis other than a 

23 claim and finding that entry into this plea agreement was 

24 involuntary, then (a) the US!\O w.i11 be relieved of all of its 

25 obligations under this agreement; and (b) should the USAO choose to 

26 pursue any charge that was either dismissed or not filed as a result 

27 of this agreement, the·n (il any applicable statute of limitations 

28 will be tolled between the date of defendant's signing of this 

12 
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1 agreement and the filing commencing any such action; and 

2 (:Li) defendant waives and gives up all defenses based on the statute 

3 of limitations, any claim of pre-indictment delay, or any speedy 

4 trial claim with respect to any such action, except to the extent 

5 that such defenses existed as of the date of def~mdant' s signing this 

6 agreement. 

7 _EJ~_9pLT OF VACATUR, REVERS)\[; OR SET-ASIDE; 

8 22. Defendant agrees that if the count o.f conviction is 

9 vacated, reversed, or set aside, both the USAO and defendant will be 

10 released from all their obligations under this agreement. 

1 l EFFECTIVE DATE OF AGREEMENT 

12 

13 

14 

] . .. .) 

16 

--·------
23. This agreement is effective upon signature and execut.ion of 

all required certifications by defend,'lnt, defendant's counsel, and an 

Assistant United States Attorney. 

BREACH OF AGREEMENT 

24. Defendant agrees that if defendant, at any time after the 

17 signature of this agreom<'rnt and execution of all required 

18 certifications by defendant, defendant:' s counsel, and an Assistant 

19 United States Attorney, knowingly violates or fails to perform any of 

20 defendant's obligations under this agreement ("a breach"), the USA() 

21 may declare this agreement breached. All of defendant's obligations 

22 a1:e material., a single breach of this agreement is sufficient for the 

23 USAO to declare a breach, and defendant: shall not be• deemed to have 

24 cured a breach without the express agreement of the USAO in wri;;ing. 

25 I.f the USAO declares this agreement breached, and the Court finds 

26 such a brnach to have occurr:ed, then: (a) if defendant has previously 

27 entered a guilty plea pursuant to this agreement, defendant will not 

28 

13 
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1 be able to withdraw the guilty plea, and .(b) the llSAO wi 11 be 

2 relieve:ci of all its obligations under this agr-efJment. 

3 25. Following the Court's finding of a knowing bre.1ch of th.is 

4 agreement by defendant, should the lJSAO choose to pursue any charge 

5 that was either dismissed or not filed as a result of this agreement, 

6 then: 

7 a. Defendant agrees that any applicable statute qf 

8 limitations is tolled between the date of defendant's signing of this 

9 agreement and the filing commencing any such ac;tion. 

10 b. Defendant waives and gives up all defenses based on 

11 the statute of limitations, any claim of pre-indictment: delay, or any 

12 speedy trial c;laim with respect to any such action, except to the 

13 extent that such defenses existed :as <>f the date of defendant's 

14 sign.:i .. ng this agreement. 

1 
,. . ) c . Defendant agrees that: (i) any statements made by 

16 defendant, under oath, at the guilty plea hearing (if sucl< a hearing 

1."l occ11rred. prior to the breac.h); (ii) the agreed to factu<il basis 

18 statement in t:his agreement; and (iii) any evidence derived frrnn such 

19 statE,ments, shall be adn1issible against defendant in any such action 

20 aga.inst de:fendan·t, and defendp_nt waives and gives up a_ny claim_ Ufl(l(~r 

21 the Onited States Constitution, any statute, Rule 410 of the E'ederaJ 

22 Rules of Evidence, Rule 11 (f) of the Federal Rules Of C:rimi.naJ 

23 Procedure, or any other federal rule, that the statements or any 

24 evidence derived from the statements should be suppressed <>r are 

25 inadmissible. 

26 COURT AND PROBATION OFFICE NOT f~~~:IES 

2'/ 26. Defendant understands that the Court and the United States 

28 Probation Office are not parties to this agreement and need not 

14 
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l accept any of the USAO's sentencing recommendations or the parties' 

2 agreements to facts or sentencing factors. 

3 27. Defendant understands that both defendant and ·che USAO are 

4 free Lo: (a) supplement the facts by supplying relevant information 

5 to the United States Probation Office and the Court, lb) correct any 

6 and all factual misstatements relating to the Court's Sentencing 

7 Guidelines calculations and determination of sentence, and (c) argue 

8 on appeal and collateral review that the Court's Sentencing 

9 Guidelines calculations and the sentence it chooses to impose are not 

10 error, although each party agrees to maintain its view that the 

11 calculations in paragraph 12 are consistent with t:he facts of this 

12 case. While this paragraph permits both the USAO and defendant to 

13 'rnbmit full and complete factual information to the tlnitecl States 

14 Probation Office and the Court, even if that factual information may 

15 be viewed as inconsistent with the facts agreed to in this agreement:, 

16 this paragraph does not affect defendant's and the USl'.O' s obligations 

17 not to contest the facts agreed to in this agreement. 

18 28. Defendant unclerstand.s that even if the Court ignores any 

19 sentencing recommertdation, finds facts cir reaches conclusions 

20 different from those agreed to, and/or imposes any sentence up to Lhe 

21 maximum established by statute, defendant cannot., .f<:n: that reason, 

22 withdraw defendant's guilty plea, and defendant will r.emain bound Lo 

23 fulfill all defendant's obUgations under this agreement. Defendant 

24 \inderstancls that no one nnt the prosecutor, defendant's attorney, 

25 or the Court -- can make a binding prediction or promise regarding 

26 the sentence defendant will receive, except that it will be within 

27 thEo statutory maximum. 

28 

15 
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l 

2 29. Defend~.nt understands that, except as set forth herein, 

3 there are no promises, understandings, or agl7eements between the USl\O 

4 and defendant or defendant's attorney, and that no additional 

S. promise, understanding, or agreement may be cnt.,red into unless in a 

6 writing signed by all parties or on the record in court. 

8 30. The parties agree that this agreement will be considered 

9 part of the record of defendant's guilty plea hearing as if the 

10 entire agreement had been read into the recoi:d of the p1coceed1ng. 

11 AGREED /\ND ACCEPTED 

12 uwn·rm STATES ATTORNEY'$ OF'FICE 
FOR THE CJm'fHl\I, DISTRICT' O.F 

13 CALIFORNIA 

14 ,JR. 
atos Attorney 

alto l5 

16-1~~~ 
,N A. WILLJ°AMS 
J, OS1'ILLJCR 11 

18 

19 

As i tant United States Attorneys 

20 

2l. 

22 

23 

24 

26 

27 

rfr···G/· 

16 

_ 7[z..r;] 1 vf 
Date 
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1 CERTIF'ICATION OF DEFENDANT 

2 I have read this agreement in it:s enl:irety. I have had enough 

3 time to review and consider this agreement, and I have carefully and 

4 thoroughly discussed every pa.rt of it with my attorney. I understand 

5 the terms of this agreement, and I voluntarily agree to those terms. 

6 ! have discussed the evidence with my attorney, and my attorney has 

.7 advised me of my rights, of possible pretrial motions that might be 

8 filed, of possible defenses that might be asserted either prior to or 

9 at trial, of the sentencing factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a}, 

10 of reJ_eva_nt Seritencing c;uidelin-es p.rovision.s, at1d o.f -the conseq1Jences 

11 of entering int.o- this agreer.tent. ·No promi_ses, .i.nd.uce_ments, or 

12 t'epresentations of any kind have been made to me other thari those 

13 contained in this agreement. No one has threatened or forced me in 

14 any way to enter into this agreement. I am satisfied with the 

15 repr:es~~ntalion of my attorney in this matter, and_ I <:1m plea,dinq 

16 gUilt_y l>e·cau_se I am _guilt.y of the charges and wish to take advantage 

17 of the promises set :Eorth in this agreemen.t, and not for any other 

18 r·eason. 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

''cHAl~LES OKOYE 
Defendant 

Date 

17 
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1 CERTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY - ""'"' -
2 I am Charles Okoye's attorney. I have carefully and thoroughly 

3 discussed every part of this agreement with my client.. Further, l 

4 have fully advised my client of his rights, of possible pretrial 

5 motions that might be filed, of possible defenses that might be 

6 asserted either prior to or at trial, of the sentencing factors set 

7 forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), of relevant Sentencing Guidelines 

8 p.covisions, and of the consequences of EH1terinq into th.is aqreement. 

9 'l'o m,y knowledge: no .Promises, inducements, or rf'~presentat_icns of any 

10 kind have been made to my client other than those contained i.n this 

11 agreemen-t.; no one has threatened or t=orc-ed m_y client Jn arty -way to 

12 enter into this agreement; my client's decision to enter into thl.s 

13 agreement is an informed and voluntary one; and the factual basis ,set 

1.4 forth in this agreement is sui'.fl.cient t.o support. my client's entry of 

15 a guilty plea pur' nt to this agreement. 

16 

1. 7 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

2.3 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant CHARLES 

1S 
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1 CERTlFICA'fION OF DEFENDANT'S ATTORNEY 

2 I am Charles Okoye' s attorney. I have carefully and thoroughly 

3 discussed every part of this agreement with my client. Further, l 

4 have fully advised my client of his rights, of possible pretrial 

5 motions that might be filed, of possible defenses that might be 

6 asserted either prior to or at trial, of the sentencing factors set 

7 forth in 18 u.s.c. § 3553(a), of relevant Sentencing Guidelines 

8 provisions, and of the consequences of entering into this agreement. 

9 To my knowledge: no promises, inducements, or representations of any 

10 kind have been made to my client other than those contained in this 

11 agreement; no one has threatened or forced my client in any way to 

12 enter into this agreement; my client's decision to enter into this 

13 agreement is an informed and voluntary one; and the factual basis set 

14 forth in 

15 a guilty 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

LES MCA EE 
Attorney for 
OKOYE 

my client's entry of 

to this agreement. 

CHARLES 
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UN1TED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

CRIMINAL MINUTES -- GENERAL 

Case No. CR 12-1170(B)-MWF Dated: August 25, 2014 
================================================================== 
PRESENT: HONORABLE MICHAEL W. FITZGERALD, U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE 

Rita Sanchez 
Courtroom Deputy 

Rosalyn Adams 
Court Reporter 

Cathy Ostiller 
Asst. U.S. Attorney 

================================================================== 
U.S.A. vs (Dfts listed below) 

5) Charles Okoye 
Present - On bond 

PROCEEDINGS: 

5) 

Attorneys for Defendants 

Leslie McAfee 
Present - Retained 

CHANGE OF PLEA AND SETTING OF SENTENCING 
DATE 

Case called, and counsel make their appearance. 

Defendant is sworn. Plea agreement is filed July 28, 2014. The plea agreement is 
incorporated and made a part of this proceeding. 

Defendant withdraws his previously entered plea of not guilty and enters a plea of Guilty to 
Count One of the Second Superseding Indictment. 

The Court questions the defendant regarding the plea of Guilty and finds a factual and legal 
basis for the plea. The Court finds that the defendant, Charles Okoye, has entered his plea 
freely and voluntarily with a full understanding of the charges against him and the 
consequences of his plea. The Court finds that defendant understands his constitutional and 
statutory rights and wishes to waive them. 

The Court refers the defendant to the Probation Office for the preparation of a pre-sentence 
report and continues the matter to December 8, 2014, at 3:00 p.m. for sentencing. The Jury 
Trial is hereby vacated, as to this defendant only. The defendant is ordered to return on this 
date. 

cc: PSA 
USl'O 

MINUTES FORM 8 
CRIM -- COP & SET SENT 

Initials of Deputy Clerk rs 
:40 
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Counsel are notified that Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32 requires the parties to notify the 
Probation Officer, and each other, of any objections to the Presentence Report within fourteen (14) 
days of receipt. Alternatively, counsel may file such objections not later than twenty-one (21) days 
before Sentencing. The Court construes "objections" to include departure arguments. Any party 
intending to move for a continuance of the Sentencing shall, not later than noon on the Monday 
preceding the Sentencing, notify opposing counsel and the Courtroom Deputy. Strict compliance with 
the above is mandatory because untimely filings interfere with the Court's preparation for Sentencing. 
Failure to meet these deadlines is grounds for sanctions. 

MINUTES FORM 8 
CRIM -- COP & SET SENT 

Initials of Deputy Clerk rs 
:40 
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United States District Court 
Central District of California 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA vs. Docket No. CR 12-1170ffil-MWF 

Defendant 5. Charles Okoye 

akas: -"n/"'a'-----------------

Social Security No • ....1_ _i._ ...2... .JL 
(Last 4 digits) 

JUDGMENT AND PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER 

MONTH DAY YEAR 
In the presence of the attorney for the government, the defendant appeared in person on this date. Dec. 8 2014 

COUNSEL 

PLEA 
----~ 

FINDING 

JUDGMENT 
AND PROB/ 

COMM 
ORDER 

Les McAfee, Retained 
(Name of Counsel) 

~GUILTY, and the court being satisfied that there is a factual basis for the plea. D NOLO 
CONTEND ERE 

There being a finding/verdict of GUILTY, defendant has been convicted as charged of the offense(s) of: 

D NOT 
GUILTY 

Count 1 of the Second Superseding Indictment: Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud in violation of 18 
u.s.c. §1349, 1347. 
The Court asked whether there was any reason why judgment should not be pronounced. Because no sufficient cause to the 
contrary was shown, or appeared lo the Court, the Court adjudged the defendant guilty as charged and convicted and ordered that: 
Pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, it is the judgment of the Court that the defendant is hereby committed to the 
custody of the Bureau of Prisons to be ilnprisoned for a term of: 

It is ordered that the defendant shall pay to the United Stales a special assessment of $100, which is due immediately. Any unpaid 
balance shall be due during the period of imprisonment, at the rate of not less than $25 per quarter, and pursuant to !he Bureau of 
Prisons' Inmate Financial Responsibility Program. 

It is ordered that the defendant shall pay restitution in !he total amount of $931,118.96 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663A. 

The amount of restitution ordered shall be paid as follows: 

Amount 

Centers for Medicare/Medicaid Services $931,118.96 

A partial payment of $5,000 shall be paid immediately. Restitution shall be due during the period of imprisonment, at the rate of 
not less than $25 per quarter, and pursuant to the Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial Responsibility Program. If any amount of 
!he restitution remains unpaid after release from cuslody, nominal monthly payments of at leasl 10% of defendant's gross monthly 
income bul not less than $100, whichever is greater, shall be made during the period of supervised release and shall begin 30 days 
after the commencement of supervision. Nominal restitution payments are ordered as the Court finds that the defendant's 
economic circumstances do not allow for either immediate or future payment of the amount ordered. 

For the amount of restitution ordered in this judgment, the defendant shall be held join!ly and severally liable with co-defendant 
Adeline Ekwebelcm, to the extent that co-defendant Ekwebelem is determined liable for the same victim losses. The victim's 
recovery is limited to the amount of its loss and the defendant's liability for restitution ceases if and when the victim receives full 
restitution. 

Pursuant lo 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f)(3)(A), interest on lhe restitution ordered is waived because !he defendant does no! have the ability 
to pay interest. Payments may be subject to penalties for default and delinquency pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

CR~J04 (09/11) .JUDGMENT & PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER Page 1 of4 



Case 2:12-cr-01170-MWF Document 337 Filed 12/16/14 Page 2 of 5 Page ID #:2076 

USA vs. 5. Charles Okoye Docket No.: CR 12-1170(B)-MWF 

The defendant shall comply with General Order No. 01-05. 

All fines are waived as it is found that the defendant does not have the ability to pay a fine in addition to restitution. 

Pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, it is the judgment of the Court that the defendant, Charles Ikechukwu Okoye, is 
hereby committed on Count 1 of the 21-Count Second Superseding Indictment to the custody of the Bureau of Prisons for a term 
of 24 (twenty-four) months. 

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be placed on supervised release for a term of three years under the following 
terms and conditions: 

1. The defendant shall comply with the rules and regulations of the United States Probation Office, General Order 
05-02, and General Order 01-05, including the three special conditions delineated in General Order 01-05. 

2. During the period of community supervision, the defendant shall pay the special assessment and restitution in 
accordance with this judgment's orders pertaining to such payment. 

3. The defendant shall apply all monies received from income tax refunds to the outstanding court-ordered financial 
obligation. In addition, the defendant shall apply all monies received from loltery winnings, inheritance, 
judgments and any anticipated or unexpected financial gains to the outstanding court-ordered financial obligation. 

4. The defendant shall not be employed in any position that requires licensing or certification by any local, state or 
federal' agency without the prior written approval of the Probation Officer. 

5. The defendant shall not engage, as whole or partial owner, employee or otherwise, in any business involving 
federally funded health insurance or entitlement programs without the prior written approval of the Probation 
Officer. Further, the defendant shall provide the Probation Officer with access to any and all business records, 
client lists and other records pertaining to the operation of any business owned, in whole or in part, by the 
defendant, as directed by the Probation Officer. 

6. The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of a DNA sample from the defendant. 

The drug testing condition mandated by statute is suspended based on lhe Court's determination that the defendant poses a low 
risk of future substance abuse. 

It is further ordered lhal !he defendant surrender himself lo !he institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons on or before 12 
noon, on February 6, 2015. In the absence of such designation, the defendant shall report on or before the same date and time, to 
the United States Marshal localed al the Roybal Federal Building, 255 East Temple Street, Los Angeles, California 90012. 

The Court grants the government's motion to dismiss all remaining counts of the First and Second Superseding Indictment. 

The defendant is advised of his right to appeal. 

The Court recommends the defendant be designated lo a facility localed in the Southern California, namely Terminal Island, or in 
the alternative, Lompoc, CA. 

In addition to the special conditions of supervision imposed above, it is hereby ordered that the Standard Conditions of Probation and 
Supervised llclcasc within this judgment be iinposcd. The Court n1ay change the conditions of supervision, reduce or extend the period of 
supervision, and at any thne during the supervision period or within the maxiinum period permitted by law, 1nay issue a warrant and revoke 
supervision for a violation occurring during the supervision period. 

CR-104 (09/11) JUDGMENT & PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER Page 2 of4 
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December 15, 2014 

Date HONORABLE MICHAEL W. FITZGERALD 
U.S. District Judge 

It is ordered that the Clerk deliver a copy of this Judgment and Probation/Commitment Order to the U.S. Marshal or other qualified officer. 

Clerk, U.S. District Court 

December 16, 2014 

Filed Date 

By Rita Sanchez /s/ 

Deputy Clerk 

The defendant shall comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court (set forth below). 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF PROBATION AND SUPERVISED RELEASE 

While the defendant is on probation or supervised release pursuant to this judg1nent: 

1. The defendant shall not co111mit another Federal, state or local cri1ne; 
2. the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the written 

permission of the court or probation officer; 
3. the defendant shall report to lhe probation officer as directed by the 

court or probation officer and shall submit a truthful and co1nplete 
written report within the first five days of each inonth; 

4. the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation 
officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer; 

5. the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other 
fan1ily responsibilities; 

6. the defendant shall work regularly al a lawii.tl occupation unless 
excused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or other 
acceptable reasons; 

7. the defendant shall notify the probation officer at least 10 days prior 
to any change in residence or employment; 

8. the defendant shall refrain fro1n excessive use of alcohol and shall not 
purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any narcotic or other 
controlled substance, or any paraphernalia related to such substances, 
except as prescribed by a physician; 

9. the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances 
arc illegally sold, used, distributed or ad1ninistered; 

10. the defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal 
activity, and shall not associate \Vi th any person convicted of a felony 
unless-granted pennission to do so by the probation officer; · 

ll. the defendant shall pennit a probation officer to visit hi1n or her at any 
time at ho1ne or elsewhere and shall pern1it confiscation of any 
contraband observed in plain view by the probation officer; 

12. the defendant shall notify the probation officer within 72 hours of 
being arrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer; 

13. the defendant shall not enter inlo any agreement to act as an infonncr 
or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without the pennission 
of the court; 

14. as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third 
parties of risks that may be occasioned by the defendant's crilninal 
record or personal history or characteristics, and shall permit the 
probation officer to make such notifications and to confonn the 
defendant's co1npliance with such notification require1nent; 

15. the defendant shall, upon release fro111 any period of custody, report 
lo the probation officer within 72 hours; 

16. and, for felony cases only: not possess a firearn1, destructive device, 
or any other dangerous weapon. 

CR-104(09/Jl) JUDGMENT & PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER Page 3 of4 



Case 2:12-cr-01170-MWF Document 337 Filed 12/16/14 Page 4 of 5 Page ID #:2078 

USA vs. 5. Charles Okoye Docket No.: CR 12-1170(B)-MWF 

D The defendant will also comply with the following special conditions pursuant to General Order 01-05 (set forth below). 

STATUTORY PROVISIONS PERTAINING TO PAYMENT AND COLLECTION OF FINANCIAL SANCTIONS 

The defendant shall pay interest on a fine or restitution of 1nore than $2,500, unless the court waives interest or unless the fine or 
restitution is paid in full before the fifteenth (15'") day after the date of the judgment pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3612(!)(1). Payments may be subject 
to penalties for default and delinquency pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3612(g). Interest and penalties pertaining to restitution, however, are not 
applicable for offenses completed prior to April 24, 1996. 

If all or any portion of a fine or restitution ordered remains unpaid after the tennination of supervision, the defendant shall pay the 
balance as directed by the United States Attorney's Office. 18 U.S.C. §3613. 

The defendant shall notify the United States Attorney within thirty (30) days of any change in the defendant's mailing address or 
residence unlil all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments are paid in full. 18 U.S.C. §3612(b)(l)(F). 

The defendant shall notify the Court through the Probation Office, and notify the United States Attorney of any material change in the 
defendant's economic circumstances that might affect the defendant's ability to pay a fine or restitution, as required by 18 U.S.C. §3664(k). The 
Court may also accept such notification from the govern1nent or the victiin, and may, on its own motion or that of a party or the victi1n, adjust 
the manner of payment of a fine or restitution-pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3664(k). See also 18 U.S.C. §3572(d)(3) and for probation 18 U.S.C. 
§3563(a)(7). 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: 

1. Special assessments pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3013; 
2. Restitution, in this sequence: 

3. Fine; 

Private victin1s (individual and corporate), 
Providers of co1npensation to private victims, 
The United States as victin1; 

4. Community restitution, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3663(c); and 
5. Other penalties and costs. 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR PROBATION AND SUPERVISED RELEASE 

As directed by the Probation Officer, the defendant shall provide to the Probation Officer: (1) a signed release authorizing credit report 
inquiries; (2) federal and slate income tax returns or a signed release authorizing their disclosure; and (3) an accurate financial statement, with 
supporting docu1nentation as to all assets, income and expenses of the defendant. In addition, the defendant shall not apply for any loan or open 
any line of credit without prior approval of the Probation Officer. 

The defendant shall 1naintain one personal checking account. All of defendant's inco1ne, "monetary gains," or other pecuniary proceeds 
shall be deposited into this account, which shall be used for pay1nent of all personal expenses. Records of all other bank accounts, including any 
business accounts, shall be disclosed to the Probation Officer upon request. 

The defendant shall not transfer, sell, give aw_ay, or otheiwise convey any asset with a fair market value in excess of $500 without 
approval oI the Probation Officer until all financial obligations imposed by the Court have been satisfied in full. 

These conditions are in addition to any other conditions imposed by this judgment. 

RETURN 

I have executed lhc within Judgment and Con11nitment as follows: 

Defendant delivered on 

Defendant noted on appeal on 

Defendant released on 

Mandate issued on 

Defendant's appeal detern1ined on 

Defendant delivered on 

CR-104 (09/1 !) 

to 

---------------- to 
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at 
the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons, with a certified copy of the within Judgment and Commitinent. 

United States Marshal 

By 

Date Deputy Marshal 

CERTIFICATE 

I hereby attest and certify this date that the foregoing document is a full, true and correct copy of the original on file in 1ny office, and in my 
legal custody. 

Clerk, U.S. District Court 

By 

Filed Date Deputy Clerk 

FOR U.S. PROBATION OFFICE USE ONLY 

Upon a finding of violation of probation or supervised release, I understand that the court may (1) revoke supervision, (2) extend the term of 
supervision, and/or (3) modify the conditions of supervision. 

These conditions have been read to n1e. I fully understand the conditions and have been provided a copy of them. 

(Signed)----------------
Defendant 

U. S. Probation Officer/Designated Witness 

Date 

Date 

CR-104 (09/!1) JUDGMENT & PROBATION/COMMITl\'lENT ORDER P11ge5 of4 



BEFORE THE 
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 

UEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAfRS 
ST ATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Matter of the Accusation 
Against: 

) 
) 
) 
) 

Charles Ikcchukwu Okoye, M.D. ) Case No. 8002013001874 

Physician's and Surgeon's 
Certificate No. A 96076 

Respondent 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

DECISION 

The a ttachcd Stipulated Su rrcndcr of License and Order is hereby 
adopted as the Decision and Order of the Medical Board of California, 
Department of Consumer Affairs, State of California. 

This Decision shall become effective at 5;00 p.m. on April 22, 2015. 

IT IS SO ORDERED April 15, 2015 

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

JO 

11 . 

12 

13 

14 

15 

KAMALA D. HARRIS 
Attorney General of California 
E. A. JONflS Ill 
Supervising Deputy Attorney General 
CHRIS LEONG 
Deputy Attorney General 
State Bar No. 14 l 079 

California Department of Justice 
3 00 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702 
Los Angeles, CA 90013 
Telephone: (213) 897-2575 
Facsimile: (213) 897-9395 
E-mail: chris.leong@doj.ca.gov 

Attorneys for Complainant 

BEFORE THE 
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Jn the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

CHARLI~S IKECHUKWU OKOYE, M.D. 

21402 S. Perry Street 
Carson, CA 90745-1609 

Case No. 800-2013-001874 

STIPULATED SURRENDER OF 
LICENSE AND ORDER 

16 Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate 
No. A 96076 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Respondent. 
11-~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by and between the parties to the above· 

entitled proceedings that the following matters are trne: 

PARTIES 

1. Kimberly Kirchmeyer (Complainant) is the Executive Director of the Medical Board 

of Califomia (Board). She brought this action solely in her official capacity and is represented in 

this matter by Kamala D. Harris, Attorney General of the State of California, by Chris Leong, 

Deputy Attorney General. 

1 

Stipulated Surrender of License (Case No. 800·2013·001874) 



2. . CHARLES IKECHUKWU OKOYE, M.D. (Respondent) is represented in this 

2 proceeding by attorney Leo Fasen, whose address is 9150 Wilshire Blvd. #175, Beverly Hills, CA 

3 90212. 

4 3. On or about June 21, 2006, the Board issued Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate 

5 No. A 96076 to Respondent. The Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate was in full force and 

6 effect at all times relevant to the charges brought in Accusation No. 800-2013-001874 and will 

7 expire on November 30, 2015; unless renewed. 

8 

9 JURISDICTION 

JO 4. Accusation No. 800-2013-001874 was filed before the Board, and is currently 

11 pending against Respondent. The Accusation and all other statutorily required documents were 

12 properly served on Respondent on March 2, 2015. Respondent has not filed his Notice of 

J 3 Defense contesting the Accusation. A copy of Accusation No. 800-2013-001874 is attached as 

14 Exhibit A and is incorporated by reference. 

15 ADVISEMENT AND WAIVERS 

16 S. Respondent has carefully read, fully discussed with counsel, and understands the 

17 charges and allegations in Accusation No. 800-2013-001874. Respondent also has carefully read, 

18 fully discussed with counsel, and understands the effects of this Stipulated Surrender of License 

l 9 and Order. 

20 6. Respondent ls fully aware of his legal rights in this matter, including the right to a 

21 hearing 011 the charges and allegations in the Accusation; th.e right to be represented by counsel, at 

22 his own expense; the right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him; the right to 

23 present evidence and to testify on his own behalf; the right to the issuance of subpoenas to compel 

24 the attendance of witnesses and the production of documents; the right to reconsideration and 

25 courl review of an adverse decision; and all other rights accorded by the California 

26 Administrative Procedure Act and other applicable laws. 

27 7. Respondent voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waives and gives up each and 

28 every right set forth above. 

2 
--

Stipulated Surrender of License (Case No. 800-2013-00 l 874) 



1 CULP ABILITY 

2 8. Respondent admits the truth of each and every charge and allegation in Accusation 

3 No. 800-2013-001874, agrees that cause exists for discipline and hereby surrenders his 

4 Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No. A96076 for the Board's formal acceptance. 

5 9. Respondent understands that by signing this stipulation he enables the Board to issue 

6 an order accepting the surrender of his Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate without further 

7 process. 

8 CONTINGENCY 

9 10. This stipulation shall be subject to approval by the Medical Board of California. 

Jo Respondent understands and agrees that counsel for Complainant and the staff of the Medical 

l l Board of California may communicate directly with the Board regarding this stipulation and 

12 surrender, without notice to or participation by Respondent or his counsel. By signing the 

13 stipulation, Respondent understands and agrees ihat he may not withdraw his agreement or seek 

14 to rescind the stipulation prior to the time the Board considers and acts upon it. If the Board fails 

15 to adopt this stipulation as its Decision and Order, the Stipulated Sun·ender and Disciplinary 

16 Order shall be of no force or effect, except for this paragraph, it shall be inadmissible in any legal 

17 actio11 between the parties, and the Board shall not be disqualified from further action by having 

18 considered this matter. 

19 11. The parties understand and agree that Portable Document Format (PDF) and facsimile 

20 copies ofthls Stipulated Sun:ender of License and Order, including Pottable Document Format 

21 (PDF) and facsimile signatures thereto, shall have the same force and effect as the originals. 

22 12. In consideration of the foregoing admissions and stipulations, the parties agree that 

23 the Board may, without further notice or formal proceeding, issue and enter the following Order: 

24 ORDER 

25 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No. A96076, issued 

26 to Respondent CHARLES IKECHUKWU OKOYE, M.D., is surrendered and accepted by the 

27 Medical Board of California. 

28 /// 

3 

Stipulated Surrender of License (Case No. 800-2013-001874) 



1 1. The surrender of Respondent's Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate and the 

2 acceptance of the surrendered license by the Board shall constitute the imposition of discipline 

3 against Respondent. This stipulation constitutes a record of the discipline and shall become a part 

4 of Respondent's license history with the Medical Board of California. 

5 2. Respondent shall lose all rights and privileges as a physician and surgeon in 

6 California as of the effective date of the Board's Decision and Order. 

7 3. Respondent shall cause to be delivered to the Board his pocket license and, if one was 

8 issued, his wall certificate on or before the effective date of the Decision and Order. 

9 4. If Respondent ever files an application for licensure or a petition for reinstatement in 

1 o the State of California, the Board shall treat it as a petition for reinstatement. Respondent must 

11 comply with all the laws, regulations and procedures for reinstatement of a revoked license in 

12 effect at the time the petition is filed, and all of the charges and allegations contained in 

13 Accusation No. 800-2013-001874 shall be deemed to be true, correct and admitted by Respondent 

14 when the Board determines whether to grant or deny the petition. 

J 5 5. If Respondent should ever apply or reapply for a new license or ce1tificatio11, or 

l 6 petition for reinstatement of a license, by any other health care licensing agency in the State of 

17 California, all of the charges and allegations contained in Accusation, No. 800-2013-001874 shall 

18 be deemed to be true, correct, and admitted by Respondent for the purpose of any Statement of 

J 9 Issues or any other proceeding seeking to deny or restiict licensure. 

20 ACCEPTANCE 

21 1 have carefully read the above Stipulated Surrender of License and Order and have fully 

22 discussed it with my attorney, Leo Fasen. I understand the stipulation and the effect it will have 

23 on my Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate. I enter into this Stipulated Surrender of License and 

24 Order voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently, and agree to be bound by the Decision and Oi-der 

25 of the Medical Board of California. 

26 

27 DATED: 

28 

;\~ 
CHARLES IKECHUKWU OKOYE, M.D. 
Respondent 

4 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

I have read and folly discussed with Respondent CHARLES IKECHUKWU OKOYE, 

M.D. the terms and· conditions and other matters ontained in this Stipulated Surrender of License 

and Order. I approve its form and content. 

DATED: ::., I l(v/ I< 
• l 

ENDORSEMENT · 

The foregoing Stipulated Surrender of License and Order is hereby respectfully submitted 

for consideration by the Medical Board of California of the Department of Consumer Affairs. 

10 Dated: --{ I \ \ I:) Respectfully submitted, 

KAMALA D. HARRIS J 1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

LA2015600087 
6150$277.doc 

5 

Attorney General of California 
· E. A. JONES III 
Supervising Deputy Attorney General 

Gl~~ 
CHRIS LEONG 
Deputy Attorney General 
Attorneys for Complainant 

Stipulated Surrender of License (Case No. 800-2013-001874) 
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KAMALA 0. HARRIS 
Attorney General of California 
E. A. JONES llI 
Supervising Deputy Attorney General 
CHRIS LcONG 
Deputy Attorney General 
State Bar No. 141079 

California Depmtment of Justice 
300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702 
Los Angeles, CA 90013 
Telephone: (213) 576-7776 
Facsimile: (213) 897-1071 

A llomeys for Complainant 

FILED 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 
SAC~ .. E. N .. T. 0 mtLrd1 :l 20 ff,' 
BY . VtronJ ANALYST 

BEFORE THI~ 
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Malter of the Accusation Against: 

CHARLES IKECHUKWU OKOYE, M.D., 
21402 S. Perry Street 
Carson, California 90745-1609 

Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate 
No. A 96076, 

Respondent. 

Complainant alleges: 

Case No. 800-2013-001874 

ACCUSATION 

PARTIES 

I. Kimberly Kirchrneyer ("Complainant") brings this Acellsation solely in her 

official capacity as Executive Director oflhe Medical Board of California ("Board"). 

2. On or about June 21, 2006, the Board issued Physician's and Surgeon's 

Certificate No. A 96076 lo Charles lkechukwu Okoye, M.D. ("Respondent"). The Physician's 

and Surgeon's Certificate was in effect at all times relevant to the charges brought herein and 

expires on November 30, 2015, unless renewed. On July 29, 2014, a court ordered suspension 

was issued and the matter is pending. 
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.JURISDICTION 

This Accusation is brought before the Board under the authority of the 

3 following sections of the Business and Professions Code (Code), Government Code, and Health 

4 and Safety Code. 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

4. Section 2004 of the Code states: 

"The Board shall have the responsibility for the following; 

"(a) The enforcement of the disciplinary and criminal provisions of the 

Medical Practice Act. 

"(b) The administration and hearing of disciplinary actions. 

"( c) Carrying out disciplinary actions appropriate to findings made by a 

medical quality review committee, the division, or an administrative law judge. 

''(d) Suspending, revoking, or otherwise limiting certificates after the 

conclusion of disciplinary actions. 

"(e) Reviewing the quality of medical practice caJTied nut by physician 

and surgeon certificate holders under the jurisdiction of the board." 

5. Section 2227 of the Code provides that a licensee who is found gitilty 

17 m1der the Medical Practice Act may have his or her license revoked, suspended for a period not to 

18 exceed one year, placed on probation and be required to pay the costs of probation monitoring, or 

19 other action taken in relation to discipline as the Board deems proper. 

20 6. Section 2234 of the Code states: 

21 "The Board shall take action against any licensee who is charged with unprofessional 

22 conduct. In addition to other provisions of this artide, unprofessional conduct includes, but is not 

23 limited lo, the following: 

24 "(a) Violating or attempting to violate, directly or indirectly, assisting in or 

25 abetting the violation of~ or conspiring tu violate any provision of this chapter. 

26 "(b) Gross negligence. 

27 "(c) Repeated negligent acts. To be repeated, there must be two or more 

28 negligent acts or omissions. An initial negligent act or omission followed by a separate and 

2 ___ ., ____________ _ 
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distinct departure from the applicable standard of care shall constitute repeated negligent acts. 

2 "(I) An initial neglige11t diagnosis followed by an act or omission 

3 medically appropriate for that negligent diagnosis of the patient shall constitute a single negligent 

4 act. 

5 "(2) When the sllmdard of care requires a change in the diagnosis, 

6 act, or omission that constitutes the negligent act described in paragraph (l), including, but not 

7 limited to, a reevaluation of the diagnosis or a change in treatment, and the licensee's conduct 

8 departs from the applicable standard of care, each departure constitutes a separate and distinct 

9 breach of the standard of care. 

l 0 "(cl) Incompetence. 

l l "(c) The commission of any act involving dishonesty or corruption which 

12 is substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician and surgeon. 

13 "(J) Any action or conduct which would have warranted the denial of a 

14 certificate." 

15 

16 

7. Section 2236 of the Code states: 

"(a) The conviction of any offense substantially related to the 

17 qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician and surgeon constitutes unprofessional conduct 

18 within the meaning of this chapter [Chapter 5, the .Medical Practice Act]. The record of 

19 conviction shall be conclusive evidence only of the fact that the conviction occurred. 

20 "(b) The district attorney, city attorney, or other prosecuting agency 

21 shall notily the Division ofMeclical Quality of the pendency of an actioo against a licensee 

22 charging a felony or misdemeanor immediately upon obtaining information that the defendant is a 

23 licensee. The notice shall identify the licensee and describe the crimes charged and the facts 

24 alleged. The prosecuting agency shall also notify the clerk of the court in which the action is 

25 pending that the defendant is a licensee, and the clerk shall record prominently in the file that the 

26 defendant holds a license as a physician and surgeon. 

27 "( c) The clerk of the conrt in which a licensee is convicted of a crime 

2& shall, within 48 hours after the conviction, transmit a certified copy of the record of conviction 10 
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I the board, The division may inquire into the circumstances surrounding the commission of a 

2 crime in order to fix the degree of discipline or to determine if the conviction is of an offense 

3 substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of a physician and surgeon. 

4 "(cl) A plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction after a plea of no lo 

5 conlendere is deemed to be a conviction within the meaning of this section and Section 2236.l. 

6 The record of conviction shalt be conclusive evidence of the fact that the conviction occurred." 

7 FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

8 (Conviction of Substantially Related Climes) 

9 8. Respondent is subject lo disciplinary action under section 2236 of the Code 

l O in that he has been convicted of crimes which arc substantially related to the qualifications, 

11 functions, or duties of a physician. The circumstances are as follows: 

12 Conviction 

13 9. On June l 3, 2013, in the United States District Court, Central District of 

14 California, a First Superseding Indictment was filed in a case entitled United Stales of America vs. 

15 Charles Okoye. case number CR-12-01170, charging in Count One, that Respondent, a licensed 

16 physician and enrolled Medicare provider, between in or about November 200& and in or about 

17 November 2011, referred more than 200 Medicare beneficiaries to Adelco for durable medical 

18 equipment, primarily power wheel chairs ("PWCs") from his medical clinic, located at 4405 

19 South Main Street in Los Angeles, California. Respondent also billed Medicare for services he 

20 allegedly provided 10 approximately 150 of those beneficiaries, in violation of Title 18, United 

21 States Code, Seetion 1349. 

22 1 o. On or about January 21, 2015, Respondent entered into a Plea Agreement 

23 (hereinafter, the "Plea Agreement") with the United States Attorney's Office for the Central 

24 District of California pursuant to which the Respondent agreed to plead guilty to the two-count 

25 information tcferrcd to above. 

26 11. As part ofthe Plea Agreement, Respondent formally acknowledged that, in 

27 connection with his convictions above: 

28 Ill 
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"Defe11dant's Obligations 

"[Respondent] agrees to: 2 

3 

4 "3. [Respondent] understands and acknowledges that as a result of pleading guilty 

5 pursuant to this agreement, [Respondent] will be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid, and all 

6 Federal health care programs. [Respondent] agrees to complete and execute all necessary 

7 documents provided by the United States Depaitment of Health and Human Services, or any other 

8 Department or agency of the federal government, to effect this exclusion within 60 days of 

9 receiving the documents. This exclusion will not affect [Respondent's] right to apply for and 

JO receive benefits as a beneficiary under any Federal heallh care program including Medicare and 

11 Medicaid." 

12 "4, [Respondent] further agrees: 

l3 "a. To stipulate to the revocation of defendant's medical license mid shall lose all 

] 4 rights and privileges as a licensed physician in California. 

15 "b. To not apply for Ii censure or petition for reinstatement of defendant's revoked 

16 medical license for at least three years from the effective date of the revocation, and 

17 "c. That upon the effective date of the license revocation, the defendant shall be 

18 prohibited from engaging, either directly or indirectly, in any activity for which a medical 

19 license is required." 

20 " Nature of the Offenses 

21 "[Respondent] understands that forthe [Respondent] to be guilty of the crime charged in 

22 Count one, that is, conspiracy to commit health cm·e fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States 

23 code, Section 1349, the following must be true: (\)beginning in or about November 2008 and 

24 continuing until in or abont November 2011, there was an agreement between two or more 

25 persons to commit healthcare fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States code, Section 1347; 

26 and (2) [Respondent] became a member of this conspiracy knowing of its object and intending to 

27 help accomplish iL The clements of a violation of Title 18, United States code, Section J 347, are: 

28 ( l) [Respondent] knowingly and willfully devised or participaiecl in a scheme to defraud a health 
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care benefit program; (2) the statements made of facts omitted as part of the scheme were 

2 material; (3) [Respondent] acted with .intent to defraud; and (4) the scheme involved the delivery 

3 of or payment for health care benefits, items, or services," 

4 12. As part of the Plea Agreement, Respondent formally admitted that, in 

5 co1111cction with his convictions above: 

6 "FactlJal..!;}asis 

7 "[Respondent] admits that [Respondent] is, in fact, guilty of the offenses to which 

8 [Respondent] is agreeing to plead guilty. [Respondent] and the USAO agree to the statement of 

9 facts provided below and agree that this statement of facts is sufficient to support pleas of guilty 

l O to the charges described in this agreement m1d to establish the Sentencing Guidelines factors set 

I] forth in paragraph 14 below but is not meant to be a complete recitation of all facts relevant to 

12 the underlying criminal conduct or all facts known to either party that relate to that conduct 

13 "Background 

14 "Between in or about November 2008 and in or about November 2011, 

J 5 [Respondent], a licensed physician, prescribed DME (primarily power wheelchairs ("PVv'Cs") for 

16 patients he referred to Adelco Medical Distributors, Inc. ("Adelco"), a durable medical equipment 

17 ("DME") supplier. During that time period, Adel co was owned by co-conspirator Adeline 

J 8 Ekwebelem, and was enrolled as a provider with Medicare, a federal health care benefit program 

19 affecting commerce that provides reimbursement for medically necessary services lo persons 

20 aged sixty-five years and older and to certain disabled persons. Adelco purported to provide 

21 DME to Medicare beneficiaries. 

22 "The Conspirac:\IJQ.D\;.fraud Mcdi<;fil£ 

23 "During the period described above, in Los Angeles County, within the central 

24 District of California, [Respondent] conspired and agreed wi!b Ekwcbelem and others to defraud 

25 Medicare by soliciting and receiving illegal kickbacks in exchange for prescribing medically 

26 unnccessnry PW Cs nnd other DME for Medicare. beneficiaries he referred to Adelco. Defendant 

27 joined the conspiracy knowing of and intending to help accomplish those goals. 

28 "!Respondent] solicited and received kickln1cks from Ekwebclem in exchange for 

6 
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referring Medicare beneficiaries to Adclco !or DME that he knew would be billed to Medicare by 

2 Adelco. [Respondent] did so, knowing that Ekwebelem had arranged to have many of the 

3 patients he referred to Adelco brought to [Respondent's] clinic for that purpose. [Respondent] 

4 knew that it was ii legal to solicit or receive kickbacks in exchange for the referral of patients for 

5 PW Cs or other DME paid for by Medicare. 

6 "[Respondent] also knew that many of the beneficiaries he referred to Adelco did 

7 not medically need PWCs and were able to walk unassisted. [Respondent] knew that Adelco 

8 fraudulently billed Medicare for the PW Cs, falsely claiming that PW Cs were medically 

9 necessary. 

Jo "During his involvement with the conspiracy, [Respondent] referred 

l 1 approximately 204 beneficiaries to Adclco for PWCs. DefendanL billed Medicare approximately 

12 $52,802 for claims for services he allegedly provided to the beneficiaries he referred to Adclco 

1J for DME, and Medicare paid [Respondent] approximately $29,927 on those claims. 

14 "Adelco billed Medicare approximately $1,710,145 for DME claims related to 

15 beneficiaries defendant referred, and Medicare paid Adelco approximately $824,566 on those 

l 6 claims. 

17 "Othe1·Fnmdulenl DME Refol'rnlJi 

18 "D1iring approximately the same time period during which (Respondent] was 

19 engaged in a conspiracy to commit health care fraud with Ekwebelem and Adelco, he was also 

20 prescribing medically unnecessary DME, primarily PWCs, in exchange for kickbacks from the 

21 owner of anotbcr DME company, Esteem Medical Supply. [Respondent] referred approximately 

22 21 beneficiaries to Esteem for DME. Esteem billed Medicare approximately $128,221 for DME 

23 claims related to those beneficiaries, and Medicare paid fatecm approximately $76,625 on those 

24 claims." 

25 Sentence 

26 13. On December 8, 2014, at a sentencing heming, Respondent was committed 

27 on Count I of the 21 count $ccond Superseding Indictment to the custody of the Bureau of 

28 Prisons for 24 months, with supervised release thereafter for 3 years under the terms and 

7 
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l conditions of the U.S. Probation oflice and General order 05-02. Respondent was ordered to pay 

2 restitution of $931, 118.96. Respondent was ordered to surrender into custody not later than 

3 February 6, 20 l 5. 

4 ,Judgment 

5 14. On December 16, 2014, Judgment and Commitment as to Respondent was 

6 rendered on the terms set forth in the sentencing. 

7 SECOND CAUSE .l<'OR DISCIPLINE 

8 (Commission of Acts Involving Dishonesty or Corrnption) 

9 l 5. By reason of the foregoing allegations, Respondent is subject to 

l () disciplinary action under section 2234, subdivision (e), of the Code in that he has committed acts 

11 involving dishonesty or corruption which are substantially related to the qualifications, fonctions, 

12 or duties of a physician and surgeon. 'l11e facts and circumstances alleged above in paragraphs 8 

13 tlu·ough 14 are incorporated here as if fully set fo11h. 

l 4 THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE 

15 (Unprofessional Conduct) 

16 16. Respon<lcill is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 2234 in 

17 that he engaged in unprofessional conduct as described above. The facts and circumstances 

18 alleged above in paragraphs 8 through 15 are incorporated here as if folly set forth. 

19 Ill 

20 ill 

21 fl/ 

22 /// 

23 Ill 

24 Ill 

25 Ill 

26 Ill 

27 Ill 

28 Ill 
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1 PRAYER 

2 WHEREFORE, Complainant request that a hearing be held on the matters herein 

3 alleged, and that following the hearing, the Medical Board of California issue a decision: 

4 l. Revoking or suspending Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate Number 

5 A 96076, issued to Charles Ikechukwu Okoye, M.D.; 

6 2. Revoking, suspending or denying approval of his authority to supervise 

7 physician assistants, pursuant to section 3527 of the Code; 

8 3. Ordering him to pay the Medical Board of California, if placed on 

9 probation, the cost of probation monitoring; and 

JO 4. Taking such other and further action as dec111ed necessary and proper. 

11 DATED: March 2 ____ ,2015 
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Executive Dir 'tor 
Medical Board of California 
Department of Consumer Affairs 
Stale of California 
Complainant 
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